

ARL-TR-8455 • AUG 2018



Simulation of a High-Voltage Silicon Carbide (SiC) Power Diode under High-Action Pulsed Operation

by Aderinto Ogunniyi, Heather O'Brien, and Miguel Hinojosa

NOTICES

Disclaimers

The findings in this report are not to be construed as an official Department of the Army position unless so designated by other authorized documents.

Citation of manufacturer's or trade names does not constitute an official endorsement or approval of the use thereof.

Destroy this report when it is no longer needed. Do not return it to the originator.



Simulation of a High-Voltage Silicon Carbide (SiC) Power Diode under High-Action Pulsed Operation

by Aderinto Ogunniyi, Heather O'Brien, and Miguel Hinojosa Sensors and Electronic Devices Directorate, ARL

REPORT DOCUMENTATIO			N PAGE		Form Approved OMB No. 0704-0188
Public reporting burden 1 data needed, and comple burden, to Department of Respondents should be a valid OMB control num PLEASE DO NOT	for this collection of informat ting and reviewing the collect I Defense, Washington Headd ware that notwithstanding an ver. RETURN YOUR FORM	ion is estimated to average 1 ho tion information. Send commen uarters Services, Directorate fo y other provision of law, no per A TO THE ABOVE ADD	ur per response, including th ts regarding this burden estir r Information Operations and son shall be subject to any pe RESS.	e time for reviewing in nate or any other aspect l Reports (0704-0188) nnalty for failing to con	structions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the ct of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing the , 1215 Jefferson Davis Highway, Suite 1204, Arlington, VA 22202-4302, mply with a collection of information if it does not display a currently
1. REPORT DATE (DD-MM-YYYY)	2. REPORT TYPE			3. DATES COVERED (From - To)
August 2018		Technical Report			
4. TITLE AND SUB	TITLE	1			5a. CONTRACT NUMBER
Simulation of a	a High-Voltage Si	licon Carbide (SiC) Power Diode ur	der High-	
Action Pulsed	Operation) I Ower Diode ui	luor mgn	5b. GRANT NUMBER
					5c. PROGRAM ELEMENT NUMBER
6. AUTHOR(S)					5d. PROJECT NUMBER
Aderinto Ogun	nivi. Heather O'F	Brien, and Miguel H	Iinoiosa		
Ademito Ogunniyi, neather O Brien, and Miguel r					5e. TASK NUMBER
					5f. WORK UNIT NUMBER
7. PERFORMING C	RGANIZATION NAME	E(S) AND ADDRESS(ES)			8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NUMBER
US Army Rese	arch Laboratory				
ATTN: RDRL	-SED-P				ARL-TR-8455
2800 Powder M	Aill Road				
Adelphi, MD 2	0783-1138				
9. SPONSORING/N	MONITORING AGENC	Y NAME(S) AND ADDRE	SS(ES)		10. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S ACRONYM(S)
					11. SPONSOR/MONITOR'S REPORT NUMBER(S)
Approved for p	public release; dis	tribution is unlimited	ed.		
13. SUPPLEMENTA	ARY NOTES				
14. ABSTRACT Future Army p and fast-switch 10-kV silicon c power dissipati understand the state current an analyzed and a	ulsed-power appl ing-speed constra carbide PiN diode ion of 26 kW. A r extreme electrica id voltage across t reas of localized l	ications require sen ints. This report de s. The diode condu nodel of a high-pov l stresses in the pov the diode closely m high current density	niconductor devic etails the pulse ev- cted a pulse curre wer PiN diode wa wer diode when s- natched measured were identified.	ces that will n aluation and c ent of 2.6 kA s developed i ubjected to a data. Current	neet high-power, low-weight and volume, corresponding modeling and simulation of at a 1-ms pulse width with an instantaneous n the Silvaco Atlas software to better high-current pulse. Simulation of the on- density distribution through the device was
	-				
15. SUBJECT TERM	15	.			
electronic devi carbide, power	ces, semiconductor de semiconductor de	or devices, semicon evices, power semi	ductor device tes	ting, semicon es, wide band	ductor device modeling, PiN diode, silicon gap semiconductors
16. SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF:			17. LIMITATION 18. NUMBE	18. NUMBER	19a. NAME OF RESPONSIBLE PERSON
			ABSTRACT	PAGES	Aderinto Ogunniyi
a. REPORT	b. ABSTRACT	c. THIS PAGE			10h TELEDUONE NUMBER (Include area anda)
			T II I	21	19b. TELEPHONE NOWBER (Include area code)

Standard Form 298 (Rev. 8/98) Prescribed by ANSI Std. Z39.18

Contents

List	List of Figures	
1.	Introduction	1
2.	SiC PiN Diode Structure	1
3.	Device Modeling Approach	2
4.	High-Voltage (HV) SiC PiN Diode Development	5
5.	Device Simulation Approach	7
6.	Results and Discussion	8
7.	Summary and Conclusion	11
8.	References	12
List	of Symbols, Abbreviations, and Acronyms	14
Dist	ribution List	15

List of Figures

Fig. 1	Cross-sectional view of the 1.0-cm ² , 10-kV SiC PiN diode
Fig. 2	Image of the diode with a metallization and polyimide overlay with a 30-mm ² contact opening
Fig. 3	Comparison of model vs. measured data of the thermal conductivity of SiC
Fig. 4	Comparison of model vs. measured data of the volumetric specific heat of SiC
Fig. 5	Plot of the 1 µs ambipolar carrier lifetime temperature-dependent model with respect to temperature
Fig, 6	Cross-sectional view of the HV SiC PiN diode
Fig. 7	Circuit schematic used to evaluate the HV SiC PiN diode (DUT) 7
Fig. 8	Simulation approach used to generate an elevated pulse current flow across the diode
Fig. 9	The 10-kV SiC PiN diode transient electrical model vs. experimental results at a 1-ms peak pulse current of 2.6 kA
Fig. 10	Localized current density of the SiC PiN diode at a peak pulse current of 2.6 kA
Fig. 11	Device temperature at 2.6 kA for the 1-ms pulse duration

1. Introduction

The US Army Research Laboratory (ARL) is interested developing and using modeling and simulation of the inner workings of high-power silicon carbide (SiC) devices that are subjected to elevated current densities at unique timescales in the microsecond and millisecond regime. Accurate physics-based SiC models will enable better optimization of SiC device designs leading to enhanced device performance. These physics-based SiC models will also enable the prediction of device performance at various extreme pulsed conditions, expanding the application space of SiC power devices. This research presents the modeling of a SiC power diode at extreme pulsed power densities and shows direct correlation between measured high-power characterization and simulated current and voltage waveforms. SiC PiN diodes are slated to replace current silicon (Si) diodes used in various pulsed-power applications. These high-power diodes are critical in various pulsed systems to protect both active and passive components from reverse voltages and currents. SiC's electrical, thermal, and mechanical properties make it a more viable candidate than its Si counterpart for high-action pulsed-power applications.^{1,2}

A series of pulse evaluations were conducted with SiC PiN diodes in this work. The diodes were used for reverse voltage blocking in series connection with a Si super-gate-turn-off (SGTO) thyristor device in a high-energy, under-damped system. Details of the Si SGTO's design^{3,4} and pulsed-power capabilities have been reported in literature.⁵

2. SiC PiN Diode Structure

The device evaluation and simulation presented in this work are based on a 10-kV, $1-cm^2$ SiC PiN diode designed and fabricated by Cree Inc. The SiC diodes used in this work were fabricated from low-defect wafers with a 90-µm drift layer and 4° off-ward cut. The 600-µm multi-zone junction termination structure further enables these devices to reliably block voltage up to 10 kV with less than 100 µA of leakage current. The cross-sectional view of the SiC diode is displayed in Fig. 1. An image of the diode with a metallization and polyimide overlay with a 30-mm² contact opening is shown in Fig. 2.

	5540 μm	
	Au: 4.5 um	
Polyimide	P ⁺	
JTE		JTE
	P ⁺ emitter:	
8570 μm		
SiC n⁻ drift layer: 90 µm		
	SiC substrat	e
	Au: 6 μm	

Fig. 1 Cross-sectional view of the 1.0-cm², 10-kV SiC PiN diode



Fig. 2 Image of the diode with a metallization and polyimide overlay with a 30-mm² contact opening

The die area of the PiN diode is 1.0 cm². Pulsed analysis of the diode's behavior in a small-scale module has been reported at the IEEE Power Modulator and High Voltage Conference.⁶

3. Device Modeling Approach

It is essential to implement accurate SiC physics-based models to characterize the transient characteristics of the SiC devices appropriately under extreme pulsed conditions. The primary physics-based models employed in the numerical simulator Atlas include 1) a low- and high-electric field mobility model, which accounts for phonon scattering and ionized impurity scattering of carriers due to elevated temperature and doping concentration, respectively;^{7–10} 2) low- and high-level injection carrier recombination models (Shockley-Read-Hall Recombination and Auger);⁹ and 3) an impact ionization model, which accounts for the carrier generation due to high electric fields.^{8–10} The carrier lifetimes are modeled as a function of doping concentration and temperature.^{10,11} For this research, the

electron carrier lifetime (τ_{no}) is assumed to be five times higher than the hole lifetime (τ_{po}).^{12,13} Since the electron mobility in 4H-SiC is typically 8 to 10 times higher than the hole mobility, the electron diffusion coefficient (D_n) and diffusion length (L_n) will be much higher than the hole diffusion coefficient (D_p) and diffusion length (L_p), implying that electron lifetime would be much higher than the hole lifetime.^{12–14} Furthermore, the values of τ_{po} and τ_{no} are measured in the lightly doped region of the device and then scaled down to the square root as the doping concentration increases. This clearly implies that the carrier lifetime decreases with an increase in doping concentration.¹³

Temperature-dependent SiC material models, such as thermal conductivity and volumetric specific heat, were accounted for in this work to portray an accurate electrothermal behavior of the device under extreme pulsed-switching conditions.¹⁰ Figure 3 depicts the thermal conductivity of SiC at various temperatures. Accurate modeling of the material thermal conductivity is essential for steady-state simulation of the device. Furthermore, accurate modeling of the volumetric specific heat is imperative for transient simulation of the device.



Fig. 3 Comparison of model vs. measured data of the thermal conductivity of SiC

The expression used to model the thermal conductivity of SiC is shown in Eq. 1, where TC.A, TC.B, and TC.C are material-dependent fitting parameters and T_L is the lattice temperature.¹⁰

$$\kappa(T) = \frac{1}{\left(TC \cdot A + (TC \cdot B) * T_{L} + (TC \cdot C) * T_{L}^{2}\right)}$$
(1)

The expression used to model the volumetric specific heat of SiC is shown in Eq. 2. In the volumetric specific heat equation, HC.A, HC.B, and HC.C are material-dependent fitting parameters and T_L is the lattice temperature.¹⁰

C = HC .A + HC .B *
$$T_L$$
 + HC .C * T_L^2 + $\frac{HC .D}{T_L^2}$ (2)



Figure 4 depicts the volumetric specific heat of SiC with respect to temperature.

Fig. 4 Comparison of model vs. measured data of the volumetric specific heat of SiC

When high-level carrier injection occurs in the drift region of a bipolar device such as a PiN diode, the ambipolar lifetime (τ_a) is a summation of the electron carrier lifetime (τ_n) and hole carrier lifetime (τ_p), because lifetime is independent of recombination traps. An analytical temperature-dependent carrier lifetime model was implemented in the Atlas simulator. The temperature-dependent electron lifetime model is shown in Eq. 3, where T_L is the lattice temperature, τ_{no} is the initial electron lifetime at room temperature, and LT_ τn is the temperature-dependent electron lifetime coefficient. LT_ τn has to be greater than zero to enable the temperature-dependent lifetime model in the simulator. For this work, the temperature-dependent electron lifetime coefficient was 1.5. The temperaturedependent hole lifetime expression correlates with expression shown in Eq. 3.¹⁰

$$\tau_n = \tau_{no} \left(\frac{T_L}{300} \right)^{LT - \tau n}$$
(3)

A plot of carrier lifetime with respect to temperature is shown in Fig. 6. As mentioned previously, the electron carrier lifetime (τ_{no}) was five times larger than the hole carrier lifetime (τ_{po}), as shown in Fig. 5. Figure 5 also depicts a plot of an ambipolar lifetime of 1 µs at ambient temperature and the contribution of the electron lifetime and hole lifetime. The power law increase in lifetime with temperature characteristics in Fig. 5 is equivalent for all the ambipolar lifetimes investigated in this research.



Fig. 5 Plot of the 1-µs ambipolar carrier lifetime temperature-dependent model with respect to temperature.

The ambipolar lifetime value used in the simulation was 2 μ s based on the spatial variation lifetime range (<0.5 to 2.1 μ s) that has been reported for thick n-4H-SiC utilizing various optical measurement techniques.¹⁴ All the physics-based models and parameters implemented in these simulations are realistic values based on what have been reported in literature for 4H-SiC.^{7–12}

4. High-Voltage (HV) SiC PiN Diode Development

A 2-D numerical-based simulation was performed to understand the physical phenomena that occur in the SiC PiN diode when pulsed under extreme conditions. This discovery and understanding is essential in developing optimized devices with

improved performance for a range of high-power applications. The diode structure implemented in the physics-based numerical simulator is displayed in Fig. 6.



Fig, 6 Cross-sectional view of the HV SiC PiN diode

The diode structure implemented in Atlas had a drift region thickness of 90 μ m with a doping concentration of 2e14 cm⁻³. The dimensions and doping profile are based upon the PiN design fabricated by Cree. The drift region thickness and doping concentration provides the device with a sufficient hold-off voltage capability greater than 9 kV. Both the anode and cathode regions of the diode were heavily doped p- and n-types, respectively. The anode region had a thickness of 2 μ m to minimize the total on-resistance of the diode while enhancing the hole carrier injection on the topside of the diode. The doping concentration and drift region thickness used in the simulation are typical values that have been reported for HV SiC PiN diodes.⁶ The active area of the diode implemented in Atlas was approximately 0.72 cm². To account for the die active area of approximately 0.72 cm², the current flowing through the diode was scaled accordingly in the z-axis (quasi 3-D). The mesh width in the z-direction was 3.0e6 μ m.

5. Device Simulation Approach

The simulation of the conduction of the SiC PiN diode under extreme conditions was implemented by replicating a voltage pulse waveform equivalent to the forward voltage drop across the HV diode to circumvent the implementation of various passive components in a more complex mixed-mode circuit simulation. Highcurrent, wide-pulse diode evaluations previously conducted at ARL used a circuit like the one shown in Fig. 8, where the SiC diode is represented as the device under test (DUT). The SiC diode (DUT) is connected in series with a Si SGTO device that is triggered into the on-state with a fiber-optic transmitter once the capacitor has been charged up to the desired voltage of choice with a power supply. The evaluation circuit had a custom-made inductor with an inductance of approximately 180 μ H. The capacitors used in circuit were three 175- μ F General Atomics metalized capacitors rated for 22 kV in a parallel configuration; a total charge capacitance of 525 μ F and a load resistance of 200 m Ω were used in the pulsed circuit. The primary purpose of the anti-parallel Solidtron Si diode was to mitigate the reverse voltage recovery that the Si SGTO must endure after being subjected to an elevated-current pulse. To emulate the identical electrical stress on the modeled diode without incorporating the passive components, the high current through the diode was simulated by a pulsed voltage profile. With the appropriate capacitance, inductance, and resistive load, the pulse evaluation circuit depicted in Fig. 7 can produce a 1-ms pulse current waveform, which may be required in high-action applications. The pulse current and on-state voltage measurements obtained from the evaluation circuit were used to assist the model development and validity of the physics-based simulations.



Fig. 7 Circuit schematic used to evaluate the HV SiC PiN diode (DUT)

A transient voltage pulse was applied to the PiN diode structure implemented in Atlas, as illustrated in Fig. 8. This transient voltage pulse induced current flow into the device. The current flowing in the device was equivalent to a pulse current that would be generated by the capacitor discharge circuit shown in Fig. 8. The amount of current flow in the diode structure is primarily dependent on the conductivity (resistance) of the drift region or i-layer. The simulation approach used in this work evades the cumbersome implementation of transient mixed-mode circuit simulations by eliminating the implementation of both active and passive components in the pulse circuit and primarily focusing on the DUT. The approach implemented is much more efficient and produces faster solutions based on the forward voltage characteristics of the DUT at a given peak pulse current rating. The 1-ms current pulse is the baseline transient current for the carrier lifetime investigation of the SiC PiN diode.



Fig. 8 Simulation approach used to generate an elevated pulse current flow across the diode

6. Results and Discussion

At elevated pulse current levels, the conductivity of the drift region is enhanced drastically due to the excess of hole and electron concentrations in that region. The conductivity modulation in the drift region reduces the diode's total on-state resistance and enables the device to withstand large surge currents and power. As the current density increases, the anode voltage increases due to excess carriers colliding with each other (carrier–carrier scattering) and thermal vibrations in the lattice, which drastically reduces the carrier mobility of the device. Figure 9 illustrates an overlay of the model results and measured pulse data of the diode at 2.6 kA, respectively. The high localized current density near the anode edge (as labeled later in Fig. 11) is induced by current crowding and creates a lateral voltage drop across the anode region.



Fig. 9 The 10-kV SiC PiN diode transient electrical model vs. experimental results at a 1-ms peak pulse current of 2.6 kA

Based on the pulse analysis, the SiC PiN diodes are able to withstand instantaneous peak powers greater than 26 kW. These results clearly highlight SiC's enhanced thermal conductivity capability. It is projected that SiC can operate at junction temperatures greater than 300 °C. However, high-power packaging technology must be improved to enable SiC bipolar power devices to operate at their full potential. The simulation result illustrated in Fig.10 shows that localized current density at a peak pulse current of 2.6 kA is about 22 kA/cm², nearly nine times the global pulse current magnitude near the anode edge. This corner effect near the anode generates hotspots, which could eventually lead to the catastrophic failure of the device. Furthermore, it should be noted that the maximum temperature in the diode occurs well after the peak pulse current and it is primarily attributed to recombination heating induced by the high-level injection of holes and electrons in the drift region.



Fig. 10 Localized current density of the SiC PiN diode at a peak pulse current of 2.6 kA

The simulation results illustrated in Fig. 11 suggest excess heating and a temperature rate of change of greater than 200 °C at the elevated 1-ms, 2.6-kA peak current level. It is projected that SiC can operate at junction temperatures greater than 300 °C. However, high-power packaging technology must be improved to enable SiC bipolar power devices to operate at their full potential. Furthermore, it should be noted that the maximum temperature in the diode occurs well after the peak pulse current and is primarily attributed to recombination heating induced by the high-level injection of holes and electrons in the drift region. At maximum steady-state levels, the power dissipated across the device is due to carrier recombination in the bulk region of the device. At peak elevated surge power levels, however, the power dissipated is due to surface recombination and is also dominated by the effects of ohmic or joule heating.



Fig. 11 Device temperature at 2.6 kA for the 1-ms pulse duration

7. Summary and Conclusion

This work presents the successful simulation of a 4H-SiC PiN diode under extreme pulsed conditions. The simulation reveals localized current density near the anode edge at elevated pulse current levels, which could generate hotspots, potentially causing the device to degrade drastically with time. The diode is the basic building block for bipolar devices such as a bipolar junction transistor, insulated gate bipolar transistor, and thyristors. The simulation results from this work also provide insight to how the SGTO conducts in the on-state when subjected to extreme pulsed conditions. Overall, the 10-kV, 1-cm² SiC PiN diodes are very robust devices that can be reliably pulsed at current levels up to 2.6 kA with a 1-ms pulse width. The thermal transients that result from operating these devices at extreme pulsed conditions was also investigated and reported in this work.

8. References

- Ogunniyi A, O-Brien H, Lelis A, Scozzie C, Shaheen W, Agarwal A, Zhang J, Callanan R, Temple V. The benefits and current progress of SiC SGTOs for pulse power applications. Solid-State Electronics. 2010;154(10):1232–1237.
- 2. Elasser A, Chow TP. Silicon carbide benefits and advantages for power electronics circuits and systems. Proc IEEE. 2002;90:969.
- Temple V. "Super" GTOs push the limits of thyristor physics. Power Electronics Specialists Conference PESC 04, 2004 IEEE 35th Annual, vol.1; 2004 June 20–25. pp. 604–610.
- 4. Ogunniyi A, O'Brien H, Scozzie CJ, Shaheen W, Temple V. Device optimization and performance of 3.5 cm² silicon SGTO for Army applications. Proc. 17th IEEE PPC. 2009 June:669–674.
- 5. O'Brien H, Shaheen W, Thomas RL Jr., Crowley T, Bayne SB, Scozzie CJ. Evaluation of advanced Si and SiC switching components for Army pulsed power applications. IEEE Trans Magn. 2007 Jan;43(1):259–264.
- O'Brien H., Ogunniyi A, Scozzie C, Zhang Q, Agarwal A, Shaheen W, Temple V. 1.0 cm² silicon carbide PiN diodes for pulsed power applications. Proc. 2010 IEEE Power Modulator and High Voltage Conference (IPMHVC); 2010. pp. 310–313.
- Roschke M. Schwierz F. Electron mobility models for 4H, 6H, and 3C SiC. IEEE Trans Electron Devices. 2001 Jul;48(7):86,88.
- 8. Galeckas A, Linnros J. Optical characterization of excess carrier lifetime and surface recombination in 4H/6H-SiC. Applied Physics Letters. 2001;79:365.
- 9. Galeckas A., Linnros J, Grivickas V. Auger recombination in 4H-SiC: Unusual temperature behavior. Applied Physics Letters. 1997;77:3269.
- 10. Atlas user's manual device simulation software. Santa Clara (CA): Silvaco, Inc.; 2012.
- 11. Hatekayama T, Watanabe T, Shinohe T. Impact ionization coefficients of 4H-silicon carbide. Applied Physics Letters. 2004;85(8).
- 12. Ruff M, Mitlehner H, Helbig, R. SiC devices: Physics and numerical simulation. IEEE Trans Electron Devices. 1994 June;41(6);1040–1054.
- 13. Adler M. Accurate calculation of the forward drop and power dissipation in thyristors, IEEE Trans Electron Devices. 1978;25(1):16–22.

 Klein BP. Identification and carrier dynamics of the dominant lifetime limiting defect in n-4H-SiC epitaxial layers. Phys Status Solidi A. 2009;206(10):2257– 2272.

List of Symbols, Abbreviations, and Acronyms

3-D	three-dimensional
ARL	US Army Research Laboratory
DUT	device under test
HV	high voltage
SGTO	super-gate-turn-off
Si	silicon
SiC	silicon carbide

1	DEFENSE TECHNICAL
(PDF)	INFORMATION CTR
	DTIC OCA

2 DIR ARL

- (PDF) IMAL HRA RECORDS MGMT RDRL DCL TECH LIB
- 1 GOVT PRINTG OFC (PDF) A MALHOTRA

4 ARL

(PDF) RDRL SED P A OGUNNIYI H O'BRIEN M HINOJOSA B GEIL